

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES

11 FEBRUARY 2020

Chair:	* Councillor Sachin Shah	
Councillors:	 * Richard Almond * Dan Anderson * Jeff Anderson * Sarah Butterworth 	 * Honey Jamie * Jean Lammiman † Chris Mote * Kanti Rabadia
Voting Co-opted:	(Voluntary Aided)* Mr N Ransley Reverend P Reece	(Parent Governors) Mr M Chandran * Ms M Trivedi
Non-voting Co-opted:	Harrow Youth Parliament Representative	
In attendance: (Councillors)	Graham Henson	Minute 104

- * Denotes Member present
- † Denotes apologies received

97. Attendance by Reserve Members

RESOLVED: To note that there were no Reserve Members in attendance.

98. Declarations of Interest

RESOLVED: To note that the following interest was declared:

Agenda Item 8 - Draft Borough Plan 2020-2030 including the Draft Corporate Plan

During consideration of item 8, Councillor Jean Lammiman declared a nonpecuniary interest in that she was Chair of Governors at Shaftesbury School. She would remain in the room whilst the matter was considered and voted upon.

99. Minutes

(a) Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting held on 7 January 2020:

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the ordinary meeting held on 7 January 2020, be taken as read and signed as a correct record.

(b) Minutes of the Special Meeting held on 23 January 2020:

The Chair reported that the minutes were being consulted on and were not available that evening. However, the draft minutes would be submitted to Cabinet on 13 February 2020 as part of the consultation process on the budget.

RESOLVED: To note that the minutes of the special meeting held on 23 January 2020 were not available and that consideration of the minutes be deferred to the next meeting of the Committee.

100. Public Questions

RESOLVED: To note that no public questions were received.

101. Petitions

RESOLVED: To note that no petitions had been received.

102. References from Council/Cabinet

None received.

RESOLVED ITEMS

103. Role of Members towards the journey of becoming a more modern, flexible and agile Council and the planned move to a new Civic Centre

The Committee received a presentation from the Corporate Director of Resources, which set out the Council's journey towards becoming a more modern, flexible and agile Council with a move to a new Civic Centre.

The Corporate Director circulated his presentation titled 'Members and the Flexible Futures Programme' at the meeting and described the planning of the Modernisation Programme which was intended to take the Council into the digital world. He referred to the various slides as follows:

<u>Slide 1 – Modernising How We Work – Themes</u>

It was intended to review the Council as a whole and the 'client journey' would also focus on residents. It was intended to automate manual processes.

The 'core enabling' would entail the modernisation of internal processes and tools and the empowerment of staff. It would examine how officers worked with a view to simplifying and standardising processes such as sickness absence. Training and motivation of staff would be fundamental in ensuring an empowered and energised staff. A flexible and modern workspace would help support the move to a new Civic Centre.

Slide 2 – What is Flexible Futures?

The Council was preparing to move to a new Civic Centre in 2023/24 and it was intended to embed a flexible approach to work which untied staff from 'owning' a desk and allowed staff to work from any place. The physical space would be defined, including special requirements.

Additionally, how staff worked in a space and how they were managed would also be defined. Training would form an integral part of this exercise. It was intended to introduce new technological devices to ensure flexibility and allow for smarter working. Ensuring security of data would form an essential ingredient of this exercise. Workplace design would examine various steps – flexible, smarter and agile working by allowing staff to work anywhere, at anytime and anyhow with anyone and anything. The vision towards achieving this ambition was being worked on.

Members of the Council would need to be involved in this journey and provide leadership to help embed flexible and agile working.

The Committee asked a number of questions which were responded to as follows:

What arrangements would be in place to allow staff to work from home and would synergy working be available?

Staff would be able to work from any place, including libraries and coffee shops. The policies on working from home, including lone working, would be revised. In this context, data security would be particularly important. It was expected that no one would have their 'own' desk but the teams would be allocated an area. Other facilities, such as 'interview rooms', would also be required for some service areas.

On average, what percentage of time were desks currently occupied? Had the move to smarter working been costed? Was there room to be more aspirational?

The Corporate Director replied that whilst he did not have the figures to hand, it was in the region of 50% and desk space was available in the building. Currently, the Council's available technology restricted how flexibly staff could work. The new technology, soon to be introduced, would start the journey of improving the ability to be flexible and the intention was to prepare staff for flexible working before the move to the new Civic Centre.

An adviser stated that in the 'Corporate World' many companies had moved to a fully agile workspace with very few desks and it was important to plan for this eventuality. Otherwise, money could be wasted. She added that a fully agile workspace further reduced costs. In response, the Corporate Director report that the workspace design for the new Civic Centre would be as flexible as possible.

How would services users (particularly elderly residents) who were not IT literate access services, particularly as the number of older people in the borough was expected to increase?

The Corporate Director reported that the presentation slides concentrated on users who were members of staff. He acknowledged the need to define clients who were residents. However, the Councillor was making a pertinent point in relation to the ability of staff/customers (residents) to use new technology adequately. He added that the pilot for both Members and officers on the new devices, such as Microsoft Pros, would allow the Council to test how they worked before they were rolled out widely with training.

The Corporate Director added that conversations needed to take place with both Members and staff regarding future workspace design. He was aware that some subject areas could become emotive and a host of issues would need addressing, such as car parking, desk space, storage of 'special' chairs, provision of stand up desks.

DSE Assessments and Health and Safety issues would require consideration. Neighbourhood working provided increased output and remove isolation within teams. The inability to work remotely with an iPad needed to be recognised.

The Corporate Director reported that, after the new devices had been piloted, it was intended to roll them out from April to the end of summer 2020. The Wifi in the existing building would also be enhanced and officers were also trialling how best to connect the new devices when working remotely. It was also intended to replace desk telephones with 'soft' phones and revise the mobile ones. Windows 10/365, which would be the new operating system, had a range of functionality and would allow more flexible working.

The practicalities of working off site needed to be considered. What was the vision?

The Corporate Director noted that the whole 'Modernisation' transformation would support flexible working including looking at how staff would work and be managed in a flexible environment where they may not see their manager for days at a time. The Council was developing an internal communication strategy and the intention was to communicate and engage with staff better. He also referred to the Borough Plan, as a uniting vision, which was set out on the agenda as a separate item.

The Chair was of the view that Councillors were a perfect 'test bed' due to their working methods which required them to be mobile and flexible. He recommended wrap around support in areas such as IT, in particular during weekends when Councillors would mostly catch up on the work from their constituents. He acknowledged that car parking would become an issue in the new Civic Centre as it might reduce accessibility.

The Corporate Director of Resources explained that four Councillors, two from each party, would be provided with the new technology as part of the trial. He expected the new devices to be easier to use and added that a further report would be submitted to the Committee in due course.

RESOLVED: That the presentation be received.

104. Draft Borough Plan 2020-2030 including the Draft Corporate Plan

The Committee received a report of the Chief Executive, which set out a draft Borough Plan for 2020-2030 for consultation and further development during 2020. The report incorporated the Council's Corporate Plan, which set out the Council's role in delivering the broader partnership agenda and the Corporate Priorities for 2020/21.

The Leader of the Council introduced the report and explained the need to look beyond the short term and that the Borough Plan provided a 10-year vision and set out the Council's direction of travel. There was a need to address the Climate Emergency by taking the borough on a journey to becoming net-zero carbon during the life of the Plan. Additionally, the Council intended to move to a new Civic Centre. The Leader added that funding streams for Councils had changed and Councils were now more reliant on the tax payer rather than on government grants. He explained that the report before the Committee included two elements: the Borough Plan and the Corporate Plan. The Director stated that the Document would remain a draft throughout 2020.

The Director of Strategy reported on the work undertaken prior to the drafting of the Borough Plan and the Corporate Priorities and explained how the Council and partners had arrived with the set of eight priorities, which included focus areas in which the borough needed to improve (five priorities) and those areas where strong foundations were being built to sustain and support the priorities (three priorities). The Leader explained that he would like to see the five priorities eventually joining up with the three priorities where the Council was doing well. The Director outlined the next steps and the need to take the Borough Plan/Corporate Plan and Priorities forward with partner and resident engagement at which point there would be an opportunity to change the priorities. At present, the Plan did not contain significant detail and a more detailed delivery plan would be submitted to Cabinet and also the Committee.

The Director of Strategy responded to questions relating to the report. The Director explained that the Corporate Plan was the Draft Borough Plan and that the Corporate Plan Delivery Plan would set out details of how the priorities would be delivered. The Corporate Plan Delivery Plan and the short term Delivery Plan would be the same document and would set out how to develop the short term delivery of the Borough Plan. He explained that the Council was embarking on a new journey and would be looking at a 10-year

vision with its partners. He explained that the Corporate Priorities were set out in the report and contained a narrative.

In response to a question about the need for the Corporate Plan to align with the Council's budget and whether the report to O&S, Cabinet and Council was compliant with the requirements set out in the Council's Constitution, he confirmed that it was. We would comply with the constitutional requirement by adopting a set of draft Corporate Priorities as, in effect, our Corporate Plan and Council would be asked to adopt those draft Corporate Priorities on 27 February 2020.

The Committee noted that the Borough Plan was ambitious. Members and Advisers sought assurances on the following:

- the terminology used in the report, particularly in reference to the elderly and tackling inequalities. The Director of Strategy agreed to amend the final wording. He added that the amount of money available (£30k) for engagement work would need to be targeted and that the Council would also draw on other engagement work it carried out to help inform the Borough Plan. The Director reported on the cost of the props that were used as part of the 'Let's Talk' consultation exercise which had been approximately £10k. One option the Council could consider would be to commission an external organisation to develop questions around the five priorities where improvements were required which was expected to cost up to £30k to ensure effective engagement;
- how the ambitions such as employment, health and poverty would be addressed. The Director reported that the Corporate Plan Delivery Plan would include such detail and would be reported to the Committee;
- health impacted on every aspect of the Council's work, including the ambitions set out in the report. Did the Council have a health policy? The Member had also observed that developers did not give any consideration to the provision of leisure facilities. The Leader reported that the Borough Plan relied on partnership working and the commitment received from partners would help address such issues;
- nature of support from partners, including the involvement of specific groups, and the criteria set for partners. The Director of Strategy reported that a number of meetings had been held with partners and a further meeting to discuss governance arrangements was scheduled to be held on 27 February 2020. The governance arrangements would set out accountability and a memorandum of understanding, including public accountability. The Director added that he had been enthused by these meetings and the commitment to the direction of travel set out in the Borough Plan. There was an appetite for doing something new and different to help shape the borough for the future. The Council would be looking to engage more broadly and it was intended to involve other groups such as primary/secondary schools and Westminster University. The Director explained that disability groups

would be represented through the voluntary sector such as Harrow Community Action;

- with such ambitions, what would success look like and how would it be measured. The Director of Strategy replied that the Draft Borough Plan would articulate such points clearly and make them tangible and the Council would work with residents to define success/achievements. The Director added that the Borough Plan set out ambitious priorities but there was also a need to manage expectations. Funding levels would become important and the reality would involve making choices and meeting the requirements set by residents;
- was the reference to maintaining low crime levels a measure against that of London or at the level it was now? Additionally, did the target of becoming zero-carbon factor in the use of electric vehicles. The Leader replied that it was important to maintain crime levels against that in London. He added that the use of electric vehicles was likely to be brought forward. The Council had signed up to the London Mayor's Strategy to help reduce the reliance on cars. The availability of funding would be an essential factor in becoming zero-carbon but the Council had put in some measures to help reduce car usage and increased the number of charging points for electric vehicles. Harrow had the highest dependency on cars and this impacted on the environment and tackling the quality of air was important, including the need to change behaviours;
- how would Crossrail help and what powers were available to the Council to attract new Universities. The Director of Strategy explained that the development of Crossrail would help demonstrate that 'Harrow was open for business'. However, recent government announcements had shown that the money for transport infrastructure may be directed towards other parts of the UK instead of London. With regard to Universities, it was important to develop relationships with local Universities first, for example with Westminster University;
- more emphasis was required on education as the achievement of such ambitious priorities would not be possible without children in education. It was important that policies were developed that worked for the long term instead of the short term and the issue of school places currently available at primary level was cited. The Director of Strategy reported that challenges for school places in secondary schools remained an issue although a previous issue at primary level was resolved at that time. There was a clear strategy from the government about how schools had to be developed and he accepted that the ambition of every child having a school place remained a challenge but was one that the Council had an excellent track record on ensuring;
- there were more children with special needs and the changes in the demographic for education needed to be reflected. The Director of Strategy agreed with this sentiment;

 how the role of procurement would be enhanced as indicated in the report. The Director of Strategy provided an example of how this could be taken forward. He explained that the Council could use its social value policy to provide leverage.

The Chair asked how Members of the Council, as representatives of residents, would be consulted and whether the various Committees of the Council would be consulted. The Director of Strategy stated that he would look at different ways of achieving this instead of using Committees as the form for Member consultation.

The Chair enquired if the focus on long term priorities would mean the loss of the short term priorities. In response, the Director of Strategy stated that the Delivery Plan would balance the long and short term priorities.

The Chair expressed concern that the large number of ambitions set out in the Borough Plan might not be deliverable and whether these could be narrowed down to provides focus. The Director of Strategy stated that any consultation and engagement would need to be authentic and it was helpful to have the views of scrutiny members. It was likely that the priorities might be eventually linked together. The Leader of the Council acknowledged that a couple of the priorities were highly ambitious but others were achievable. The Council had been successful in bids to help with its work towards addressing health and social care inequality and education attainment level. The Chair was of the view that focus was a key element and that too many priorities, whilst noble, would require concerted efforts across all staff within the Council to achieve.

The Vice-Chair was in agreement that the priorities ought to be reduced and was of the view that the setting of 'vivid' rather than general priorities would be achievable. In response, the Director of Strategy stated that specific measurable points will be set following consultation and he agreed that poor health could be linked with housing.

Another Member was of the view that all eight priorities were strong contenders but how confident was the Council that eight was the correct number. The priorities were ambitious but needs to be specific and he noted that a further report would provide such detail and a statement of intent would help provide a sense of direction. In response, the Leader of the Council stated that the eight priorities would feed into each other and they showed the breadth of the responsibilities of the Council. The Council needed to support its residents and businesses and the Borough Plan set out purpose, focus and ambition for the people of Harrow.

RESOLVED: That

- (1) the comments from the Committee on the Draft Borough Plan 2020-2030 including the Draft Corporate Plan be referred to Cabinet;
- (2) the Committee believed that there needed to be greater focus on a smaller number of priorities.

105. Dates of Future Meetings

RESOLVED: That the dates of future meetings listed below be noted:

Municipal Year 2019/20 (7.30 pm) 21 April 2020

Municipal Year 2020/21 (7.30 pm)

14 May 2020 (special)
2 June 2020
7 July 2020 (special)
15 September 2020
10 November 2020
12 January 2021 (special)
9 February 2021
20 April 2021

(Note: The meeting, having commenced at 7.00 pm, closed at 9.46 pm).

(Signed) COUNCILLOR SACHIN SHAH Chair